2016

Patrick Liley, Plaintiff and Appellee, v. Utah Department of Transportation, a Division of the State of Utah, Juab County, a Political Subdivision of the State of Utah, Sanpete County, a Political Subdivision of the State of Utah, Cedar Springs Ranch, Inc., a Utah Corporation, and Dale Do Rius, an Individual, Defendant and Appellant.

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78A-4-103(2)(h).

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the district court err in essentially ruling that, as a matter of law, a landlord that owns real property on which a tenant's cows are grazing is "in possession or control" of the livestock for purposes of Utah Code Annotated §41-6a-407(1)(a)?

Standard of Review: This is a legal issue that is reviewed by the appellate court de novo. *438 Main Street v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, 99 P.3d 801, 813 (Utah 2004). "While the court's factual findings are reviewed for clear error, its legal conclusions are reviewed for correctness, including its application of law to the facts of the case. *State v. Fuller*, 2104 UT 29, ¶17; 764 Utah Adv. Rep. 7.

Preservation of Issue for Appeal: The appellant preserved this issue for appeal in its motion for summary judgment, R. 385-97, and in its motion for a directed verdict, R. 1142 at 161:9 to 164:17, and 167:25 to 169:9.

2. Did the district court err in its legal ruling that, even though the evidence was insufficient to pierce the corporate veil, a relaxed standard applied and the defendant owed a greater duty?

Standard of Review: This is a legal issue that is reviewed by the appellate court de novo. *438 Main Street v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, 99 P.3d 801, 813 (Utah 2004).

“While the court’s factual findings are reviewed for clear error, its legal conclusions are reviewed for correctness, including its application of law to the facts of the case. *State v. Fuller*, 2104 UT 29, ¶17; 764 Utah Adv. Rep. 7.

Preservation of Issue for Appeal: The appellant preserved this issue for appeal in its motion for summary judgment, R. R. 385-97, and in its motion for a directed verdict, R. 1142 at 161:9 to 164:17, and 167:25 to 169:9.

3. Was the jury’s verdict in this case fatally inconsistent with itself?

Standard of Review: This is a legal issue that is reviewed by the appellate court de novo. *438 Main Street v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, 99 P.3d 801, 813 (Utah 2004).

“While the court’s factual findings are reviewed for clear error, its legal conclusions are reviewed for correctness, including its application of law to the facts of the case. *State v. Fuller*, 2104 UT 29, ¶17; 764 Utah Adv. Rep. 7.

Preservation of Issue for Appeal: The appellant raised the legal arguments upon which it now relies in its motion for summary judgment, 385-97, and in its motion for a directed verdict, R. 1142 at 161:9 to 164:17, and 167:25 to 169:9.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 41-6a-407(1)(a) provides:

A person who owns or is in possession or control of any livestock may not willfully or negligently permit any of the livestock to stray or

remain unaccompanied on a highway if both sides of the highway are separated from adjoining property by a fence, wall, hedge, sidewalk, curb, lawn, or building.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of the Proceedings, and Disposition in the Trial Court

This case involves a claim made by the plaintiff, Patrick Liley (“**Liley**”), against Cedar Springs Ranch, Inc. (“**Cedar Springs**”), and other parties. Liley alleges that he sustained injuries when he struck a cow that had entered Utah’s Highway 28 in Juab County. Cedar Springs moved for summary judgment and established that it did not own the cow that was hit by Liley (or *any* cows for that matter). Cedar Springs also argued that, as a matter of law, Cedar Springs did not have a duty to maintain fences along Highway 28.

On the first day of the trial, the district court denied Cedar Springs’ motion for summary judgment, and the case proceeded to trial. *See* District Court Docket, Minute Entry dated 3-3-15 and entitled “Minutes for Jury Trial.”¹ Cedar Springs then renewed its legal arguments in a motion for directed verdict, which the district court also denied. R. 1142 at 161:9 to 164:17, 167:25 to 169:9, and 169:10 to 170:12. Although the district court recognized that Cedar Springs did not own the cow and was not in possession of property near the highway, the district court

¹ The docket sheet is included as part of the record, but it is not paginated.

ruled that there was a “close-interrelationship” between Cedar Springs and its tenant. R. 1142 at 170:1-2. While the district court ruled that it was not piercing the corporate veil, it nevertheless held that a greater duty existed because of the relationship between the companies. *Id.*

The jury returned a verdict against Cedar Springs, and the district court entered judgment against Cedar Springs on March 20, 2015. R. 801-803. Cedar Springs filed a timely notice of appeal on April 2, 2015. R. 846-47.

Statement of Facts

1. At 2:00 a.m. on October 4, 2009, Patrick Liley was travelling north on Highway 28 in Juab County when he hit and killed a cow. R. 1142 at 82:24 to 83:3; R. 864 at 118:16-22.
2. It is undisputed that Cedar Springs did not own the cow that Liley hit and killed. Indeed, it is undisputed that Cedar Springs has never owned *any* cows. R. 390.
3. Cedar Springs owned land on the east side of the highway near where the accident occurred. *Id.*
4. Cedar Springs leased the property to an entity called Warm Creek Ranch, Inc. (“Warm Creek”). *Id.*
5. Under the lease agreement between Cedar Springs and Warm Creek, Warm Creek was responsible to maintain the fences on the property. *Id.*

6. The jury found that Warm Creek (the tenant) was not at fault, R. 788, and that the percentage of the fault that caused Liley's harm was 0% attributable to Warm Creek, R. 789.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred in not granting Cedar Springs' motion for summary judgment and in then allowing the jury to decide issues of law. As a matter of law, Cedar Springs did not owe a duty to Liley in this case, and Liley sued the wrong party.²

ARGUMENT

In his First Amended Complaint, Liley alleged just one cause of action against Cedar Springs. That claim was for negligence. In order to establish negligence, a plaintiff must prove that the defendant owed it a duty. In this case, as a matter of law, there are only three possible legal bases upon which Cedar Springs could have owed a duty to Liley.

The first possible basis for a duty is Utah Code Ann. § 41-6a-407(1)(a), which applies to "[a] person who owns or is in possession or control of any livestock." As shown below, Cedar Springs did not own the cow that Liley hit and killed. Indeed, Cedar Springs has never owned or controlled *any* livestock.

² For some reason, Liley did not sue Warm Creek, and although the jury was asked to apportion fault, Warm Creek was never a defendant in the case.

A second possible basis for a legal duty is Cedar Spring's status as a landlord (the theory being that a landlord is in "control" of its tenant's livestock). However, as shown below, the Utah Supreme Court has held that it is the duty of a tenant, not a landlord, to keep premises safe.

Finally, although not relied upon by Liley, it is conceivable that the doctrine of respondeat superior could provide some sort of a basis for a duty on the part of Cedar Springs. However, the jury found that the tenant was 0% at fault here, and, as matter of law, if a tenant is not negligent, its landlord can have no liability under the doctrine of respondeat superior. Stated differently, while it is conceivable that Cedar Springs could have been negligent in supervising Warm Creek, the jury found that Warm Creek was 0% at fault for the accident. Therefore, there is nothing for the landlord to answer for. Accordingly, the jury's verdict is internally inconsistent, and it cannot be sustained.

I. **AS A MATTER OF LAW, SECTION 41-6a-407(1)(a) DID NOT IMPOSE A DUTY ON CEDAR SPRINGS AS LANDLORD.**

Utah Code Ann. § 41-6a-407(1)(a) provides:

A person who owns or is in possession or control of any livestock may not willfully or negligently permit any of the livestock to stray or remain unaccompanied on a highway if both sides of the highway are separated from adjoining property by a fence, wall, hedge, sidewalk, curb, lawn, or building.

As a matter of law, Cedar Springs did not own, possess, or control any livestock.

The district court therefore erred in denying Cedar Springs' motion for summary

judgment, as well as its motion for a directed verdict. The district court then compounded this error by allowing the jury to decide the meaning of the statute.

It was undisputed on summary judgment, that Cedar Springs did not own the cow that Liley hit. Indeed, it is undisputed that Cedar Springs has never owned *any* livestock. None of these facts were disputed at trial.

Further, as pointed out in Cedar Springs' motion for summary judgment, the Utah Supreme Court has held that a landlord "is not deemed to be the principal of his tenant merely because of the landlord-tenant relationship." *Stephenson v. Warner*, 581 P.2d 567, 568 (Utah 1978). Furthermore, the court held that a landlord is "not responsible for the tenant's torts, nor for the tenant's failure to keep the premises reasonably safe and in good repair." *Id.* The supreme court stated: "On the contrary, . . . it is the tenant who is responsible for any dangerous condition on the premises which he creates or permits to come into existence after he has taken possession." *Id.* at 586-69. Thus, as a matter of law, Cedar Springs is not liable to Liley for its tenant's failure (if any) to "keep the premises . . . in good repair." This would apply to the fences on the property. The district court therefore erred in denying the motion for summary judgment.

The district court's error was then compounded when the court allowed the jury to decide issues of law regarding what constitutes "control" under section 41-6a-407(1)(a). Liley's counsel was permitted to tell the jury, "the rule is if you're in

control of livestock *means it's in your property.*" R. 864 at 94:8-9 (emphasis added). Contrary to the holding of the Utah Supreme Court in *Stephenson*, Liley's counsel was allowed to further tell the jury that "[t]he owner of the property is responsible to make sure that they take reasonable care in maintaining their fences." R. 864 at 94:25 to 95:2.

Defense counsel objected to the foregoing statements to the jury, stating: "Object, Your Honor. He's arguing the law, and it's a complete misstatement of the law, Your Honor." R. 864 at 97:4-6. The Court overruled the objection. R. 864 at 97:7-10. The effect of this ruling was to allow the jury—and not the court—to interpret the statute based upon the arguments of counsel. This was error.

After the court overruled defense counsel's objection, Liley's counsel continued to tell the jury how the statute must be interpreted. For example, Liley's counsel told the jury that the law imposes a non-delegable duty on a landlord. R. 864 at 97:13-20. He also told the jury in his closing argument: "[T]he safety law in the state says it's their responsibility. It wasn't Warm Creek's [the tenant]." R. 1453 at 42:18-20. Counsel further instructed the jury as follows: "What percentage belongs to Warm Creek? Zero. Why. I told you what the safety law says." R. 1453 at 45:17-19. In other words, Liley did not argue that Cedar Springs was liable based upon some *factual* issues regarding Cedar Springs' failure to

supervise its tenant. Rather, Liley's argument was a legal one. Liley's counsel was very plain: "Our claims are against Cedar Springs because it was their property, and the cows were on their property, and the safety law in the state says it's their responsibility." R. 1453 at 42:16-20. This argument demonstrates that this case was decided based upon a legal issue. And legal issues should have been decided by the court. Under the supreme court's ruling in *Stephenson*, the district court erred in allowing the jury to decide that—as a matter of law—a landlord "controls" livestock owned by its tenant. Furthermore, this court reviews legal issues de novo, so the jury's determination on this particular point is not entitled to any deference.

Furthermore, the problem in this case was compounded in a significant and prejudicial way when Liley's counsel informed the jury that "[i]f you award any percentage of fault to Warm Creek, Patrick Liley can't be compensated for that." R. 1453 at 42:2-4. It is unclear why Liley chose not to sue Warm Creek, but it was his decision, not Cedar Springs'. More importantly, counsel's comment likely led the jury to believe that under the so-called "safety statute," Cedar Springs was liable and that apportioning fault to Warm Creek would deprive Liley of a recovery.

Of course, as stated above, Liley could have presented *factual* evidence regarding the relationship between Cedar Springs and its tenant. But there was no

such evidence presented. Instead Liley relied on legal arguments, telling (actually, instructing) the jury what the word “possession” in the statute means: Counsel stated: “Possession is *the cows are on their property*.” R. 1453 at 35:23-24 (emphasis added). Counsel continued, “Well, it’s your responsibility, Cedar Springs, it’s your property, and you have cows on the property. That’s what the law says.” R. 1453 at 36:16-19.

Based upon the foregoing, the jury was left with the impression that section 41-6a-407(1)(a) is a strict liability statute for landlords and that ownership of real property is enough to impose *per se* liability under section 41-6a-407(1)(a). However, this is not what the statute says. If the legislature had wanted to base the duty under section 41-6a-407(1)(a) on ownership of real property, it could have easily done so. But it did not. Rather, the legislature based the duty on “possession or control of . . . livestock.” The district court erred in not interpreting the law itself, in not ruling that based on the undisputed facts Cedar Springs was not in possession or control of any livestock, and then in allowing the jury to decide what the statute means.

The district court based its approach on the notion that Cedar Springs and Warm Creek are related corporations. This too was error. The district court acknowledged that there was not sufficient evidence to pierce the corporate veil, but the court decided to bend the rules because of the close relationship between

Cedar Springs and Warm Creek. However, the district court should have simply decided what section 41-6a-407(1)(a) means. The statute cannot mean one thing in one context and another thing in situations in which corporations are related. The statute should be interpreted and applied uniformly. That is the essence of due process. If Warm Creek and Cedar Springs were not entitled to be treated as separate legal entities, then the court should have so held. But if they are separate entities they are entitled to be treated as such under *Stephenson* and under section 41-6a-407(1)(a).

II. THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE AT TRIAL THAT CEDAR SPRINGS OWED OR ASSUMED ANY DUTY OTHER THAN IN ITS CAPACITY AS LANDLORD.

A second possible basis for finding that Cedar Springs owed a legal duty to Liley might be based on evidence at trial that Cedar Springs assumed some sort of duty to maintain the fences. However, it is undisputed that under the lease agreement between Cedar Springs and Warm Creek, it was Warm Creek's duty to maintain the fences. There was no factual evidence regarding any other duty or any failure to supervise.

III. AS A MATTER OF LAW, CEDAR SPRINGS COULD NOT HAVE BEEN HELD LIABLE UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF RESPONDEAT SUPERIOR BECAUSE THE JURY FOUND THAT WARM CREEK WAS NOT NEGLIGENT.

Finally, it might be possible to argue that Cedar Springs was required to answer for the negligence of its tenant under the doctrine of respondeat superior.

However, such an argument would be inappropriate here because Warm Creek (the owner of the livestock) was not negligent. As stated above, the jury specifically found that Warm Creek was 0% responsible for Liley's injuries in this case. If Warm Creek was not liable for failing to maintain fences, then, as a matter of law, there is no negligence for the superior party to answer for. If, for example, a jury finds that a pizza delivery person is not responsible for causing an automobile accident, then there is no basis in the law for holding the owner of the pizza company liable for any damages. Thus, the jury's verdict in this case is internally inconsistent, and it cannot be sustained. It cannot be said that the tenant was 0% responsible but that the landlord should nevertheless answer for the tenant's alleged failure to maintain the fences. If Warm Creek was not a fault in any way, then there was no actionable failure to maintain fences.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the judgment of the district court.