2016

**Patrick Liley, Plaintiff and Appellee, v. Utah Department of Transportation, a Division of the State of Utah, Juab County, a Political Subdivision of the State of Utah, Sanpete County, a Political Subdivision of the State of Utah, Cedar Springs Ranch, Inc.**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

VI. CSR accuses the trial court of ruling that CSR owed a greater duty because of Dorius' involvement in both CSR and WCR. But the trial court merely opined that a greater duty might exist, and it allowed the jury to determine the scope of CSR's duty.

VII. CSR never raised any issue regarding the inconsistency of the jury's verdict at the trial court level. CSR is therefore barred from challenging the jury's verdict on appeal.

### ANALYSIS

I. THE QUESTION OF WHETHER CSR HAD A DUTY TO KEEP ITS FENCES IN GOOD REPAIR WAS PROPERLY SUBMITTED TO THE JURY.

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED CSR'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

CSR contends that it was entitled to summary judgment and later a directed verdict on the ground that no fact finder could reasonably conclude that CSR owed a duty to Liley to keep the fences in functional condition. Because of the existence of factual issues and the jury's subsequent finding in favor of Liley at trial, the trial court's denial of CSR's motion for summary judgment should not even be reviewed on appeal. *See Kerr v. Salt*

*Lake City*, 2013 UT 75, ¶ 29 and *Hone v. Advanced Shoring & Underpinning, Inc.*, 2012 UT App 327, ¶ 6. Even if this Court were to disregard that rule and consider the merits of CSR's summary judgment argument, CSR cannot escape the legal maxim that questions about possession and control are inherently questions of fact. *Rahofy v. Steadman*, 2012 UT 70, ¶ 21 (possession or control of medical records is ultimately a question of fact); *State v. Bowen*, 143 P. 134, 135 (Utah 1914) (what constitutes recent possession of a cow is a question of fact). So too is the question of negligence.

'Ordinarily, the question of negligence is a question of fact for the jury. Thus, summary judgment is appropriate in negligence cases only in the most clear instances.'

*Baczuk v. Salt Lake Regional Med. Ctr.*, 2000 UT App 225, ¶ 5 (quoting *Hunt v. Hurst*, 785 P.2d 414, 415 (Utah 1990)). These questions of fact precluded summary judgment or a directed verdict in CSR's favor.

CSR tried to evade these fact questions in its trial court motions, and CSR tries to do so again on appeal, by arguing that *Stephenson v. Warner*, 581 P.2d 567 (Utah 1978), immunizes a landlord from liability for any event that occurs on leased property. But *Stephenson* does not categorically relieve a landlord from any and all duties to maintain its property simply because a tenancy exists. See *id.* at 568-569. *Stephenson* merely holds that it is the tenant, rather than the landlord, who is liable for those conditions that the tenant creates or permits to come into being during its tenancy. According to *Stephenson*,

[I]t is the tenant who is liable for any dangerous condition on the premises which he creates or permits to come into existence after he has taken possession.

*Id.* at 568-569 (emphasis supplied).

The evidence before the trial court at summary judgment included CSR's judicial admission in its responses to Liley's Interrogatories that its president and half-owner, Dale Dorius, was responsible for maintaining the cattle. R. 437. The evidence also established that CSR owned the land and allowed cattle to graze on that land. R. 429. Indeed, cattle were grazing that land at the time of the accident, and the cow that caused the accident had been "heading west from Cedar Springs Ranch and was separated from its herd..." and "there were no cattle on the west side of the road." R. 429; 492. Moreover, the fence on CSR's Property, which was near the accident site, had not been maintained or repaired in any way for at least two years. R. 429; 492. The evidence further established that CSR owned the property, had fencing on its property year-round, and did not maintain or inspect the fences for approximately nine months out of the year. R. 437; 443-444. Thus, there was ample evidence in the summary judgment record to conclude that CSR possessed or controlled the cattle, or was responsible for maintaining the cattle and the fencing, to a sufficient degree to impose liability upon CSR for its role in allowing the black angus cow to enter the highway. At the very least, this evidence presented a question of fact regarding possession and control of the cattle and the fences sufficient to overcome summary judgment.

The self-serving testimony of Dorius about a purported 40-year-old oral lease with a fence maintenance provision was unsupported by any evidence other than Dorius' own testimony, and CSR did not identify that testimony until its Reply brief was filed. For that reason alone the trial court was in a position to deny summary judgment.

‘It is the responsibility of the moving party to raise in its . . . motion *all* of the issues on which it believes it is entitled to [prevail]. *Allowing the moving party to raise new issues in its rebuttal materials is improper because the nonmoving party has no opportunity to respond.* It is for this reason that, in the analogous area of appellate review, the rule is well settled that the court will not consider issues raised for the first time in a reply brief.’

*State v. Phathamavong*, 860 P.2d 1001, 1003-1004 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (quoting *White v. Kent Medical Ctr. Inc.*, 810 P.2d 4, 8 (Wash. Ct. App. 1991)) (emphasis and alterations in original).

**B. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED CSR’S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT.**

Turning to the evidence during Liley’s case-in-chief at trial, Liley introduced substantial evidence to support a jury finding that CSR was at fault if for no other reason than for failing to maintain its own fences for the eight months that WCR was not in residence.

As a threshold matter, it was CSR’s duty in this appeal to marshal that evidence for this Court. *See* UTAH R. APP. P. 24(a)(9).

When a party challenges a trial court’s denial of a motion for directed verdict or judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the basis of insufficiency of the evidence, we follow one standard of review: We reverse only if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, we conclude that the evidence is insufficient to support the verdict. Accordingly, this standard obligates the appealing party to marshal the evidence in support of the verdict and then demonstrate that the evidence is insufficient when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. In other words, demonstrating insufficiency of the evidence requires an appealing party to show that all the evidence in favor of the verdict cannot support the verdict.

*Brewer v. Denver & Rio Grande W. R.R.*, 2001 UT 77, ¶ 33 (internal citations and quotations omitted). A party who fails to marshal evidence when required to do so “‘will

almost certainly fail to carry its burden of persuasion on appeal if it fails to marshal.””  
*Schreib v. Whitmer*, 2016 UT App 61, ¶ 28 n.9 (quoting *State v. Nielsen*, 2014 UT 10, ¶ 42).

Because CSR failed to assemble any of the probative evidence that Liley introduced in his case-in-chief, Liley has been forced to conduct that marshalling exercise for CSR. SCR should be required to reimburse Liley for the legal fees that Liley incurred to marshal the evidence that is set forth in this brief. See *Fay v. Rodgers*, 2010 UT App LEXIS 28, \*9-\*10 and UTAH R. APP. P. 33.

The evidence presented at trial established that the cow that caused the accident came from CSR’s Property. Dale Dorius, CSR’s president and 50% owner, testified that CSR owns the land on the east side of Highway 28 near Levan, Utah. R. 1243:19-1244:8. Liley confirmed this fact as well. R. 1030:17-1031:7; 1032:11-1033:2. Dorius admitted that CSR allows cattle to graze on its land from July through October each year, and has done so since 1972. R. 1265:13-17; 1266:7-14; 1264:4-6. Dorius also specifically admitted that he was running cattle on CSR’s land on October 4, 2009, i.e., the date of the accident. R. 1252:7-14. Mr. Liley testified that on the night of the accident, he heard cows bellowing on the east side of Highway 28. R. 982:24-983:18; 1079:14-1080:15. Liley also testified that the cow was headed from east to west when he struck it. R. 981:19-22. Trooper Jensen confirmed that the cow that caused Liley’s injuries had a blue ear tag that stated that the cow belonged to Dorius Family Farms. R. 1224:18-1225:6. Trooper Jensen also confirmed that that Dorius was the contact person for the cow. R. 1232:18-1234:3. Thus, the jury could reasonably find that cow was from CSR’s Property.

The evidence presented at trial also established that CSR failed to maintain the fences on its Property. CSR's President, Dorius, admitted that he is one of the parties responsible for maintaining the cattle. R. 1245:6-15. Dorius also admitted under oath that the pictures admitted as Exhibit 6 at trial showed the fence on the east side of Highway 28, and that the fence appeared to be in disrepair. R. 1246-1251; 1252:7-6-14. Dorius also admitted that for the nine months when WCR is not on the land, the fences are not inspected or maintained by CSR. R. 1261:2-16. Liley testified that on the night of the accident, Liley inspected the fence and noticed that the fence was heavily rusted, in a state a disrepair, and that several gaping holes existed in the fence. R. 983:19-984:18. Therefore, the jury could reasonably conclude that CSR had failed to maintain the fence.

The evidence also demonstrated that the fence had been in a state of extreme disrepair for years. Mr. Liley testified that the he saw numerous holes in the fence and that the fence was in a general state of disrepair. R. 1015-1027. Liley also testified that many metal portions of the fence were rusted and did not appear to have been repaired in years. R. 1027:23-1028:16. Mr. Pippy, who viewed the fence first-hand, testified that there was a major hole in the east side fence that a cow could easily crawl through, which was depicted on page 1156 of Exhibit 6. R. 1173:4-17. Mr. Pippy also opined that this hole should have been fixed immediately and not left for the following year. R. 1177:23-1178:10. Pippy then went on to testify of seeing numerous other holes and deficiencies that were accurately depicted on pages 1158-1167 of Exhibit 6. R. 1179-1182. Pippy also repeatedly testified that nothing had been done to repair the fence in years. R. 1182:3-1183:7. Accordingly, there was ample evidence that: (1) the cow came from CSR's



Property; (2) CSR failed to maintain its fence; (3) CSR had not maintained its fence for years; and (4) CSR's failure to maintain its fence predated WCR's current tenancy.

CSR's principal, Dale Dorius, attempted to deflect its duty to maintain the fences by testifying that WCR had orally agreed to maintain the fences 44 years earlier, but the only evidence of that purported lease was Dorius' self-serving testimony, which the jury was free to believe or disbelieve. *See Van Der Heyde v. First Colony Life Ins. Co.*, 845 P.2d 275, 280 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) ("The fact finder may or may not find such self-serving testimony credible."). Indeed, Dorius even admitted under oath that there was no tangible evidence of a lease.

Q Mr. Dorius, you've talked about this lease to Warm Creek. There's no written lease for that, is there?

A It's been an oral lease.

Q So we don't have any evidence that shows what the terms of that lease or what is required by your agreement with Warm Creek, do we, that we can look at?

A No, you don't have a written agreement.

R. 1266:7-15. Given the lack of any corroborating evidence whatsoever, the jury was well within its province to disbelieve Dorius' self-serving statements about the existence of any lease or, at a minimum, a fence maintenance provision in the lease. In fact, given that the jury expressly found that CSR was at fault, and that WCR was not at fault, it appears that the jury did not find Dorius' self-serving description of a fence maintenance agreement to be credible. R. 788. According to *Neff v. Neff*, the Court must accept this explanation for the jury's verdict. *See* 2011 UT 6, ¶ 16.

At the very least, the evidence allowed the jury to decide whether the holes in the fence were created during WCR's brief current tenancy or whether the holes existed when CSR controlled the fences a few months earlier. This factual question alone was sufficient to require the trial court to deny CSR's Motion for a Directed Verdict.

**II. CSR CANNOT ATTACK THE OPENING AND CLOSING STATEMENTS OF LILEY'S COUNSEL ON APPEAL WHEN CSR FAILED TO OBJECT TO LILEY'S OPENING OR CLOSING STATEMENTS AT TRIAL.**

CSR devotes a great deal of its Brief to arguing that the trial court erred by allowing Liley's counsel to argue about the application of the facts to Utah's Safety Law. But CSR never objected to Liley's opening or closing statement at trial.

In order to preserve an issue for appeal, the issue must be presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue. This requirement puts the trial judge on notice of the asserted error and allows for correction at that time in the course of the proceeding. For a trial court to be afforded an opportunity to correct the error (1) the issue must be raised in a timely fashion, (2) the issue must be specifically raised, and (3) the challenging party must introduce supporting evidence or relevant legal authority.

*438 Main Street v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51 (internal citations and quotations omitted). As this Court has stated that, "To preserve an issue for appeal, a litigant 'must enter an objection on the record that is both timely and specific.'" *Zavala v. Zavala*, 2016 UT App 6, ¶ 39 (quoting *State v. Rangel*, 866 P.2d 607, 611 (Utah Ct. App. 1993)). The objection mentioned in CSR's brief is that of Mr. Ferre, UDOT's attorney. Appellant's Brief at 8; R. 959:21-960:10. CSR failed to raise any objection. R. 955-976. CSR similarly failed to file any motion after trial objecting to Liley's statements. CSR cannot sit on its hands during trial and then raise an objection for the time on appeal.

**III. THERE IS NOTHING IN THE RECORD TO SUGGEST THAT THE JURY FAILED TO HEED AND FOLLOW THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS ISSUED BY THE TRIAL COURT.**

CSR argues that jury was improperly influenced by the arguments of Liley's attorney and that this caused the jury to disregard the jury instructions on the applicable law. In Utah, "We presume that a jury will follow the instructions given it." *State v. Menzies*, 889 P.2d 939, 401 (Utah 1994). See also *Hahnel v. Duchesne Land, LC*, 2013 UT App 150, ¶ 14 (same). This Court has repeatedly emphasized that,

'In the absence of the appearance of something persuasive to the contrary, we assume that jurors were conscientious in performing...their duty, and that they followed the instructions of the court.'

*State v. Toki*, 2011 UT App 293, ¶ 34 (quoting *State v. Burk*, 8239 P.2d 880, 883 (Utah Ct. App. 1992)).

Here, the trial court repeatedly instructed the jury that it must only listen to the trial court as to what law to apply. R. 941:7-10; 943:4-6; 943:18-24; 944:8-12; 945:5-7. Indeed, the trial court not only instructed the jury that the trial court would instruct them as to the law, but explained that the attorneys would be trying to persuade them, and that the attorneys would give their view of how the facts related to the law. This is precisely what Liley's counsel did in his opening and closing arguments. R. 943:10-18; 944:12-16. It is also what UDOT's attorney and CSR's attorney did in their opening statements as well. R. 967:24-968:13; 969:14-22; 972:6-10; 974:18-25. CSR then again argued what the Safety Law meant in its closing arguments. R. 1523:1-7. CSR has failed to point to any real evidence that the jury disregarded the trial court's instructions. The fact that the jury did not agree with CSR's counsel does not mean that the jury's decision should be disregarded.

Because of these facts, CSR has failed to overcome the presumption that the jury followed the trial court's instructions.

IV. **CSR'S STIPULATION TO JURY INSTRUCTIONS 6 AND 7 CONCEDED THAT CSR HAD A DUTY AND THE ABILITY TO CONTROL WCR.**

CSR argues that it did not have a duty to Liley as the landowner to maintain the fences. However, CSR's stipulation and agreement to Jury Instruction Nos. 6 and 7 refutes CSR's argument. In Utah, the invited error doctrine holds that:

Under the doctrine of invited error, however, Utah courts 'have declined to engage in even plain error review when counsel, either by statement or act, affirmatively represented to the trial court that he or she had no objection to the proceeding.'

*State v. Cheek*, 2015 UT App 243, ¶ 62 (quoting *State v. Winfield*, 2006 UT 4, ¶ 14). CSR invited any error by stipulating to Instructions No. 6 and 7.

Instruction No. 6 established that CSR had a duty to use reasonable care in controlling WCR when it knew or should have known that the control was necessary to prevent harm to others. In this regard, Instruction No. 6 specifically states:

You are further instructed that **Cedar Springs Ranch is required to use reasonable care in controlling Warm Creek Ranch** when Cedar Springs knows or should know that this control is necessary to prevent harm to others.

R. 763 (emphasis supplied). In discussions regarding this instruction, CSR's counsel acknowledged that Defendant's Instruction No. 8, which became Final Instruction No. 6, "talks about having the ability to control Warm Creek Ranch." R. 1400:16-17. By stipulating to this jury instruction, CSR allowed the jury to be instructed that it is the law that CSR had a duty to act to prevent harm to others.

Instruction No. 6 also states that CSR had the ability to control WCR. The instruction stated,

In determining whether Cedar Springs Ranch is negligent, you are instructed that Cedar Springs Ranch, as the landowner, has the ability to control Warm Creek Ranch's activity on the land.

R. 763 (emphasis supplied). In CSR's closing statements, CSR's own attorney acknowledged and agreed that CSR, as the landowner, had the ability to control WCR's activity on the land. R. 1525:12-16. Thus, CSR's attorney not only stipulated to a jury instruction that stated that CSR had a duty, but also reminded the jury of this instruction during CSR's closing argument. CSR likewise allowed Instruction No. 7, which stated the two alternative duties at issue. R. 764; 1404:10-1409:6. Accordingly, CSR has no one to blame but itself that the jury followed Instruction Nos. 6 and 7.

**V. CSR'S LIABILITY IS NOT LIMITED TO A FINDING THAT CSR VIOLATED UTAH'S SAFETY LAW.**

CSR argues that it had no duty under the Safety Law, and for that reason, the jury's verdict is irreconcilably inconsistent. CSR's argument, however, ignores the fact that there were two separate grounds for finding CSR negligent. In closing, CSR's counsel advised the jury that it could find "[e]ither that Cedar Springs Ranch failed to exercise reasonable care in maintaining the fence, [or] that they violated a Utah safety law." R. 1522:2-4. As a result, the jury could find negligence under the Safety Law or CSR's duty of "reasonable care in maintaining the fence to prevent cattle from coming onto the highway." R. 764.

The existence of CSR's independent duty to control its tenant can explain the trial court's denial of CSR's Directed Verdict Motion. The trial court did not state that CSR had a duty under the Safety Law, as CSR contends. Instead, the trial court stated,

I do find that a landlord does have some duty to control the actions of its tenant, and I would say that at least in this case I would think that duty perhaps is slightly greater given the close interrelationship of the parties.

R. 1310:23-1311:2 (emphasis supplied). This language shows that the trial court merely acknowledged that there was 'some duty,' whether from common law or from the Safety Law, and that the evidence presented in Liley's case-in-chief could lead a jury to find that CSR breached at least one of those duties. Thus, even if CSR did not have a duty under the Safety Law, the trial court's denial of CSR's Directed Verdict Motion, and the jury's verdict, are firmly grounded on CSR's alternative duty to control its tenant, as stated in Jury Instruction No. 6.

**VI. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT FIND THAT CSR WAS UNDER A GREATER DUTY THAN ANY OTHER LANDOWNER.**

CSR accuses the trial court of ruling that CSR "owed a greater duty" because both CSR and WCR were controlled by Dorius. Appellant's Brief at 1 and 10-11. The trial court never made any such ruling. The only mention of "a greater duty" by the trial court is the statement that "I would think that duty perhaps is slightly greater given the close interrelationship of the parties. R. 1310:23-1311:2 (emphasis supplied). There is no mention of any purported heightened duty in any of the jury instructions. Instead, the trial court's comment is directly in line with Jury Instruction No. 6, to which CSR had previously stipulated. R. 763; 1399:22-1400:9; 1302-1311.



**VII. CSR FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY ISSUE AS TO THE CONSISTENCY OF THE JURY'S VERDICT.**

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